2006

# Ira Sachs v. Joseph S. Lesser, Loeb Investors Co. XL, and United Park City Mines Company, Capital Growth Partners, and John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF PARTIES**

The parties in this case are listed in the caption. In this brief, Plaintiff-Appellant Ira Sachs is referred to as “Plaintiff Sachs” and Defendants-Appellees Joseph S. Lesser and Loeb Investors, Inc., are referred to respectively as “Lesser” and “Loeb.” Defendant-Appellee United Park City Mines Company and former defendant Capital Growth Partners, Inc., are referred to respectively as “UPCM” and “CGP.” All statutory references are to Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, unless otherwise indicated.

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

Jurisdiction of this appeal exists pursuant to §78-2a-3(2)(j), and Article VIII, §1, of the Utah Constitution. This appeal is from a final judgment entered February 15, 2006, in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Tyrone E. Medley presiding. Plaintiff Sachs filed his Notice of Appeal on March 16, 2006. The Utah Supreme Court transferred the appeal to this Court on March 23, 2006.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS FOR APPELLATE REVIEW**

1. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment for Defendants on Plaintiff Sachs' claims for declaratory judgment and breach of an express or implied contract, based on its conclusion that no enforceable express or implied finder's fee agreement existed, or that the terms of the agreement were too indefinite to be enforced, or were merely an agreement to agree, where genuinely disputed issues of material fact remain for trial and Defendants are not entitled to judgment as a matter of law?

**Standard of Appellate Review:** The district court's decision to grant summary judgment is reviewed for correctness, granting no deference to the district court and

recognizing that “summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuinely disputed issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Swan Creek Village Homeowners Association, 2006 WL 22, ¶15; Pugh v. Draper City, 2005 UT 12, ¶7, 114 P.3d 546, Wardley Corp. v. Welsh, 346 Utah 962 P.2d 86, 89 (Utah App. 1998).

**Preservation of Issue:** Argument, Point I, Plaintiff’s Mem. Op. Lesser/Loeb Motion for Summary Judgment, R.1333-1339, at 1-7; Argument, Point I, Plaintiff’s Mem. Op. UPCM Motion for Summary Judgment, R.1636-1646, at 1-11; Tr., Hearing On Motions for Summary Judgment, R. 2235 at 22:20-30:3.

2. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment for Defendants on Plaintiff Sachs' claims for declaratory judgment and breach of contract, based on its conclusion that such claims were purportedly barred by the Utah Real Estate Broker's Act, §61-2-1 *et seq.* (“UREBA”), where genuinely disputed issues of material fact remain for trial and Defendants are not entitled to judgment as a matter of law?

**Standard of Appellate Review:** A question of statutory interpretation is reviewed for correctness, without deference to the conclusions of the trial court. State of Utah v. Mooney, 98 P.3d 420, 424, 2004 UT 49, ¶9, citing Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757, 759 (Utah 1990).

**Preservation of Issue:** Argument, Point II, Plaintiff’s Mem. Op. Lesser/Loeb Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 1338-1350, at 6-18; Argument, Point II, Plaintiff’s Mem. Op. UPCM Motion For Summary Judgment, R. 1647-1656, at 12-21; Tr. Hearing on Motions for Summary Judgment, R. 2235, at 30:4-36:21.

3. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment for Defendants on Plaintiff Sachs' claims for declaratory judgment and breach of express or implied contract on the ground that they are purportedly barred by the Utah Statute of Frauds, where genuinely disputed issues of material fact remain for trial on these claims and Defendants are not entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

**Standard of Appellate Review:** Application of the statute of frauds is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. Orlob v. Wasatch Medical Management, 124 P.2d 269, 275, 2005 UT App 430, citing Spears v. Warr, 2002 UT 24, ¶23, 44 P.3d 742.

**Preservation of Issue:** Argument, Point III, Plaintiff's Mem. Op. Lesser/Loeb Motion for Summary Judgment, R.1350-1352, at 18-20; Argument, Point III, Plaintiff's Mem. Op. UPCM Motion For Summary Judgment, R.1656-1657, at 21-22; Tr. Hearing on Motions for Summary Judgment, R.2235, at 36:22-37:16.

### **STATUTES DETERMINATIVE OF APPEAL**

Utah Real Estate Broker's Act ("UREBA"), §61-2-1 *et seq.*, Aplnt. Add. 4

Utah Statute of Frauds, §25-5-1 *et. seq.*, Aplnt. Add. 5

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **Nature of the Case**

This is an action for declaratory judgment and breach of express or implied contract, to enforce an a finder's fee agreement that arose when Lesser, as Chairman of the Board of UPCM and President of Loeb, the majority stockholder group of UPCM, requested Plaintiff Sachs to find a buyer for UPCM after receiving written notice of the finder's fee Plaintiff Sachs would charge for his services.



After Sachs located one Gerald Jackson, a real estate developer in Park City, Utah, to buy UPCM, Jackson formed a company, Capital Growth Partners, Inc., (“CGP”), which signed a confidentiality agreement with UPCM, and subsequently bought UPCM by purchasing the corporation's stock in a merger in which UPCM was the surviving corporation and retained all of its assets, including its real estate.

Thereafter, Defendants refused to pay Sachs his finder's fee, based on a ruse that Jackson was already in a deal with UPCM President Hank Rothwell to purchase UPCM at the time Sachs contacted Jackson to buy UPCM. After making extensive but ultimately unsuccessful attempts to negotiate the payment of the finder's fee, Plaintiff Sachs brought this action, asserting claims against Lesser, Loeb, UPCM and CGP, for declaratory judgment and breach of express or implied contract, and other claims which are not relevant to this appeal. *See*, Counts I-IV, Verified Complaint And Demand For Jury Trial, (“Verified Complaint”), at 1-20, R.1-24, 666-668.

### **Course of Proceedings**

Plaintiff Sachs filed his Complaint and Jury Demand on January 21, 2004. R.1-24. On February 23, 2004, Lesser and Loeb moved to dismiss the Complaint on the ground that the subject finder's fee agreement was purportedly subject to, and barred by, the New York Statute of Frauds. R. 51-53. UPCM and CGP joined the motion. R.54-57.

On September 27, 2004, Judge Bruce C. Lubeck heard oral argument on the motion to dismiss, R. 156, and on September 29, 2004, issued a Ruling and Order denying the motion to dismiss. R. 157-192.

On October 13, 2004, UPCM and CGP filed their Answer, R. 193-206, and on October 15, 2004, Lesser and Loeb filed their Answer. R. 207-218.

On January 20, 2005, CGP filed a motion for summary judgment on the ground that CGP was not a party to the finder's fee agreement and or otherwise liable for its alleged breach as a "successor" to UPCM. R. 525-568.

On February 5, 2005, Plaintiff Sachs filed a Verification of Complaint. R. 666-668.

On March 31, 2005, Lesser and Loeb filed a motion for summary judgment. R. 1082-1084. On April 8, 2005, UPCM filed a motion for summary judgment. R. 1206-1208.

### **Disposition In The Lower Court**

On September 13, 2005, the district court granted CGP's motion for summary judgment. R. 2191-2190. Plaintiff Sachs does not appeal this decision.

On December 12, 2005, the district court heard oral argument on the motions for summary judgment of Lesser, Loeb and UPCM, R. 2205. On February 6, 2006, the district court entered a Minute Entry Decision, granting the Defendants' motions and dismissing Plaintiffs' claims in this action. R. 2208-2212. On March 16, 2006, Plaintiff Sachs filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court. R. 2224-2225.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Plaintiff Ira Sachs is a long time resident of Park City, Utah, and was a stockholder in UPCM at all relevant times. For many years, Mr. Sachs has worked as a business consultant, assisting businesses in resolving problems and facilitating business transactions from his office in Park City. Prior to the events in this case, Plaintiff Sachs

received, and continues to receive, an annual fee from UPCM for soliciting Quest, a telecommunications company, to contract with UPCM for a cell phone cite, pursuant to an oral agreement. *See*, “Plaintiff’s Statement of Facts”, Plaintiff’s Mem. Op. Lesser and Loeb Motion For Summary Judgment, (“Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L”), ¶1-3, R.1321; “Statement of Facts” in Plaintiff’s Mem. Op. UPCM Motion For Summary Judgment, (“Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM”), ¶1-3, R. 1624-1625; Verified Complaint, ¶1, 18-19, R. 2, 4-5; Sachs Dep., R. 1361-1362, at 20:8-24:16; Sachs Affidavit, ¶5-6, R.1442; Sachs UPCM stock certificate, R.1482-1483.

2. Defendant Joseph S. Lesser (“Lesser”) was the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Defendant United Park City Mines (“UPCM”). Lesser also served as the President of Defendant Loeb Investors Co. XL (“Loeb”), the controlling shareholder group of UCPM, and conducted business of UCPM and Loeb within the State of Utah, at all relevant times. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶¶ 4-5, R. 1321-1322; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶¶ 4-5, R. 1625; Verified Complaint, ¶3, R. 2, and Answer of Lesser and Loeb, ¶ 2, R. 208 (partially admitting allegations); Lesser Dep. R. 1402, at 18:17-21:24.

3. Defendant UPCM (“UPCM”) was a publicly traded New York Stock exchange company, with its principal place of business in Park City, Utah, and maintained its offices, employees and business operations, and conducted its annual stockholder meetings within the State of Utah at all relevant times. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶6, R. 1322; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶6, R. 1625; Verified Complaint, ¶4, R.2; Sachs Affidavit, ¶¶ 7, 9, R.1442-1443.

4. The principal business of UPCM was the leasing, development and sale of its real property located in Utah, some of which UPCM was trying to develop into Resort Projects in Park City (“The Projects”) at the time of the events concerned in this action. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L , ¶7, R.1332; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶7, R. 1625; Verified Complaint, ¶¶10-11, R. 3-4.

5. Hank Rothwell, the President of the UPCM, (“Rothwell”), resided in Salt Lake City, Utah, and conducted the business of UPCM at its principal offices in Park City, Utah, at all relevant times. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶8, R. 1322; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶8, R. 1625; Verified Complaint, ¶12, R. 4; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶8, R. 1625.

6. In addition to their duties as officers of UPCM, Lesser and Rothwell were experienced and licensed real estate brokers and investors at all relevant times. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶¶64-65, R. 1331; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶¶ 64-65, R. 1624; Lesser Real Estate License Record, R.1479; Lesser Dep. R. 1400-1402, at 13:15-24; 14:11-16; 16:13-17:18; 18:17-20:9; Rothwell Real Estate License Verification, R. 1480-1481; Rothwell Dep. R. 1392, 1398, at 10:16-12:25; 199:23-25.

7. In July of 1999, acting under Rothwell's direction, UPCM entered into a letter of understanding with DMB Associates, Inc., (“DMB”), to form a joint venture to develop The Projects. After nearly a year's delay, the joint venture was formed on June 15, 2000. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶8, R. 1322; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶8, R. 1525; Verified Complaint, ¶¶ 14-15, R.4.

8. UPCM and DMB tried to reach an agreement on a business plan for seven months. When they failed to do so, the joint venture was dissolved on January 17, 2001

and UPCM became obligated to pay DMB the sum of \$2,445,030.00 in development costs, plus accrued interest, under a letter of understanding. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶8, R. 1332; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶8, R. 1625; Verified Complaint, ¶15-16, R. 4; Sachs Dep., R. 1378, at 118:17-119:22.

9. At the time of the events referred herein, Plaintiff Sachs had been acquainted with Rothwell for 15 to 20 years. Rothwell knew Sachs was a deal maker and business consultant who worked on a fee basis. Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶9, R.1322; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶9, R. 1626; Sachs Dep., R. 1365, at 51:1-6.

10. In early 2001, Plaintiff Sachs learned of the failure of a joint venture between UPCM and DMB. He contacted one of his clients, Granite Land Company, and introduced Granite to Rothwell as a potential joint venturer for UPCM. By March 2001, Plaintiff Sachs had introduced key employees of Granite to Rothwell and others at a meeting hosted by Rothwell at the corporate offices of UPCM in Park City. Granite signed a confidentiality agreement with UPCM and subsequently engaged in negotiations regarding a possible sale or joint venture with UPCM. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶11, R. 1323; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶11, R. 1626; Verified Complaint, ¶¶20-22, Sachs Dep. 1363-1366, at 42:16- 51:23; 62:7-13; Rothwell Dep. R. 1719, at 139:22-140:19.

11. On or about May 2, 2001, Sachs met with Lesser and a mutual friend, at Lesser's private club in New York City. During the meeting, Lesser expressed his strong displeasure regarding Rothwell's handling of the failed UPCM joint venture with DMB, stating that, "I do not think Hank Rothwell is capable of running a New York Stock Exchange company." Lesser also told Sachs that he and Loeb Investors had lost faith in

Rothwell and did not want to invest any more money in UPCM. Lesser requested Sachs to help him locate a joint venturer or purchaser for UPCM as quickly as possible, importuning Sachs to “get the job done, whether it's with Granite, or someone else, or a combination.” *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶¶14-15, R. 1323; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶¶14-15, R. 1626-1627; Verified Complaint, ¶¶ 23-26, R. 5-6; Sachs Dep. R. 1368-1371, at 73:23-86:13; 80:19-81:4; 87:8-88:25; Lesser Dep. R. 1405, at 47:18- 48:5.

12. Although the specific amount of the finder's fee was not discussed at the meeting, both Lesser and Sachs understood that Plaintiff Sachs would receive a usual and customary finder's fee for his efforts. A usual and customary fee for assisting in locating a buyer for a company is 3% of the sale price of the corporation. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶¶ 16, R. 1323; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶16, R. 1627; Verified Complaint, ¶ 28-29, R. 6; Sachs Dep. R. 1384-1386, at 95:23-96:16; 145:8-148:8; 149:15-150:5; Tesch Memo, R. 1484.

13. Plaintiff Sachs does not have a real estate broker's license and was not acting as a broker, but as a professional business finder, in locating a buyer for UPCM, a New York Stock Exchange company, in response to Lesser's request. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶63, R. 1331; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶63, R. 1624; Sachs Dep. R. 1384-1385, 145:8-148:8; Lesser Dep., R. 2202, at 44:3-13.

14. During Sachs' meeting with Lesser on May 2, 2001, Lesser did not mention or exclude Gerald Jackson, (“Jackson”), a Park City real estate developer, or any other person, or entity, as a potential joint venturer or purchaser Sachs might approach, except to say that in the event DRWK, a company UPCM was working with, located a joint

venturer or purchaser for UPCM, Sachs would not receive the fee. A contract between UPCM and DRKW dated June 14, 2001, did not include Jackson on the list of potential purchasers located by DRKW. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶17-18, R. 1324; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶¶ 17-18, R. 1627; Verified Complaint, ¶30, R. 6; Sachs Dep. R. 1369-1372, at 80:19-81:22; 84:1-13; 88:1-10; 92:4-19; Lesser Dep. 1403-1404, at 36:18 -37:4; 43:13-44:10-19; DRKW Agreement, R. 1467-1477 (particularly 1469-1470).

15. Following the May 2, 2001 meeting with Lesser, Plaintiff Sachs returned home to Park City, Utah. Working primarily from his business office there, Plaintiff Sachs contacted several individuals regarding the purchase of UPCM. These individuals included Jackson and Bob Wells, both long time real estate developers residing in Park City, Utah. Plaintiff Sachs also contacted Scott Wilcox of Granite Land Company, a division of Granite Construction Company, a California company doing business in Utah. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶19, R. 1324; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶19, R. 1627; Verified Complaint, ¶33, R. 7; Sachs Dep. R. 1371-1372, at 88:1-90:14; 90:25-92:19.

16. On the morning of May 17, 2001, Plaintiff Sachs delivered a letter to Rothwell, regarding Sachs' introduction of Granite and the finder's fee he expected for his services:

I write to remind you that I will expect a modest finder's fee if an agreement comes to fruition. This could be cash, a couple of prime developed lots in the new project, or some other consideration acceptable to both of us. While I believe we have an understanding as to this finder's fee, I do think that matters of this sort ought to be out on the table early on, and I hope you feel the same. Please let me know if you have any questions concerning such a finder's fee.

*See*, Aplnt. Add. 2; Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶27, R. 1325-1326; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶27, R. 1629; Verified Complaint, ¶¶ 43; Letter to Rothwell from Sachs, R. 1478; Sachs Dep., R. 1357, 1383-1384, 1386, at 141:11-143:6; 152:23-153:13; Rothwell Dep., R. 1395, at 152:7-18.

17. Plaintiff Sachs testified that the “prime developed lots” owned by UPCM, referred to in his letter of May 17, 2001, were valued at a little over two million dollars, which Sachs considered a fair finder's fee finding a purchaser for a New York Stock exchange company such as UPCM, based on his experience and the size of the deal. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶27, R. 1326; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶28, R. 1629; Verified Complaint, ¶43, R. 9, Sachs Dep., R. 1384-1385, at 145:18-148:8.

18. Plaintiff Sachs testified that the value of his service did not depend on the time spent, but rather the result achieved -- in this case, using his experience and contacts to immediately locate a purchaser for UPCM as requested by Lesser in his phone call to Sachs on May 17, 2001. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶29, R. 1326; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶29, R. 1629; Sachs Dep. R. 1381-1382; 1384-1385, at 133:3-134:10; 145:18-148:8; 149:15-150:5;

19. Plaintiff Sachs' letter of May 17, 2001, was received by Rothwell and transmitted to Lesser. Because Sachs had previously introduced Granite to UPCM and the two parties had already begun negotiations, Sachs mentioned Granite in this letter. However, later that afternoon, Lesser telephoned Sachs in Park City. Responding to Sachs' indication in the letter that Sachs would direct his efforts to finding a “potential buyer” or “joint venturer” for UPCM, Lesser adamantly told Sachs that, “I don't want a



joint venture partner. I want this sold.” Lesser directed Sachs to refer any prospective purchasers to Rothwell at UPCM. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶¶30-31, R. 1326; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶¶30-31, R. 1629; Verified Complaint, ¶¶44-45, R. 9; Sachs Dep., R. 1387-1388, at 156:19-157:23; 159:21-161:24.

20. During his telephone call with Plaintiff Sachs on May 17, 2001, Lesser did not dispute the finder's fee proposed in Sachs' letter. Lesser did not state that Defendants would not pay Sachs' the proposed finder's fee, or indicate that there was any prospective purchaser for UPCM at that time. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶¶56-58, R. 1329-1330; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶¶ 56-58, R. 1633; Verified Complaint, ¶56, R. 1329; Sachs Dep., R. 1372, 1378-1379; 1390, at 92:4-19; 210:1-211:4; 121:22-123:14; 129:20-130:21.

21. Lesser initially testified he did not recall telephoning Plaintiff Sachs on May 17, 2001, or the content of their conversation. However, Lesser's telephone records indicate that he telephoned Sachs at his office in Park City, Utah at 2:02 p.m. on May 17, 2001, and spoke with Sachs for eleven minutes. After being shown this record, Lesser did not deny that he telephoned Sachs on that date. *See*, Pltf. Mem. Op. L&L, ¶32, R. 1326; Pltf. Mem. Op. UPCM, ¶332, R. 1629; Lesser Dep., R. 1405-1406, at 49:6-51:25; 52:22-53:9; Lesser's phone records for May 17, 2001, R. 1561.

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