2006

Ira Sachs v. Joseph S. Lesser, Loeb Investors Co. XL, and United Park City Mines Company, Capital Growth Partners. And John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Sachs' claims are based entirely upon an alleged oral finder's fee agreement for supposedly locating a purchaser for UPCM. By his complaint, Sachs seeks a three percent (3%) commission of UPCM's \$67.2 million sale price. The Court should affirm the district court's order granting defendants' motions for summary judgment dismissing Sachs' claims with prejudice because the undisputed evidence shows that Sachs' claims fail as a matter of law.

First, Sachs was not licensed to sell real estate at any relevant time. The principal business of UPCM was the leasing, development, and sale of real property located in or near Park City, Utah, and said real property was UPCM's only asset of any significance. Utah's real estate licensing statutes specifically preclude the recovery of compensation for finding a buyer of a business whose assets consist of real estate. Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-2(14) ("real estate" includes business opportunities involving real estate").

Second, the alleged finder's fee agreement was not in writing. Therefore, Sachs' claims also are barred by the Utah Statute of Frauds. Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-4 ("every agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation" must be in writing). Sachs' attempt to circumvent the Statute of Frauds

by asserting claims for quantum meruit, unjust enrichment and partial performance are also unavailing. Utah courts have consistently held that a person seeking to recover a commission relating to the sale of real property may only recover by contract, not by quantum meruit or unjust enrichment. *Watson v. Odell*, 198 P. 772 (Utah 1921).

Likewise, Utah courts have long held that “partial performance” is inapplicable to such actions and will not save an agreement that otherwise fails under the Statute of Frauds. *Case v. Ralph*, 56 Utah 243, 188 P. 640 (1920).

Finally, the alleged oral finder’s fee agreement was never made. By Sachs’ own admission, defendants never promised to pay Sachs a finder’s fee for locating a purchaser for UPCM. The alleged oral finder’s fee agreement is not sufficiently definite or certain to demonstrate a meeting of the minds between Sachs and the defendants with respect to the material terms, including the amount of compensation. Moreover, at all relevant times, Sachs claimed to represent Granite, which never purchased UPCM. Sachs did not “find” a purchaser for UPCM. Jackson knew that UPCM was for sale well before Sachs approached him. In fact, when Sachs first approached Jackson, the sale of UPCM was a matter of public record. Sachs did not provide any information to Jackson regarding UPCM that he did not already know. Accordingly, Sachs provided no benefit to defendants and neither an express nor implied contract was made. In short, Sachs’ claims fail as a matter of law and the district court’s judgment must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED SACHS' CLAIMS BECAUSE HE DID NOT HAVE A REAL ESTATE LICENSE.

In Utah, it is unlawful “for any person to engage in the business, act in the capacity of, advertise, or assume to act as a principal real estate broker, associate real estate broker, or a real estate sales agent within this state without a license.” Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-1. Consequently, a person may not bring or maintain an action in any court of this state for the recovery of a commission, fee, or compensation for any services which are only authorized to be performed by a licensed principal real estate broker. Utah Code Ann. § 61-21-18(1).⁴

A “principal real estate broker” includes any person “who, with the expectation of receiving valuable consideration, assists or directs in the procurement of prospects for the negotiation of” the sale of “real estate.” *Id.* § 61-2-2(12)(d) (emphasis added); *see also Diversified General Corp. v. White Barn Golf Course, Inc.*, 584 P.2d 848, 852 (Utah 1978) (holding § 61-2-2 applies to finder’s agreements); *Andalex Resources v. Myers*,

⁴ The full text of Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-18(1) provides:

No person may bring or maintain an action in any court of this state for the recovery of a commission, fee, or compensation for any act done or service rendered which is prohibited under this chapter to other than licensed principal brokers, unless the person was duly licensed as a principal broker at the time of the doing of the act or rendering the service.

871 P.2d 1041, 1045 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (“The act of finding or locating a prospective buyer falls within the reach of the broker licensing statutes.”). “**Real estate**” includes “leaseholds and **business opportunities involving real property.**” Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-2(14) (emphasis added). This expansive definition reflects the legislature’s intention that the real estate licensing provisions be given broad application. *Chade v. Morgan*,⁹ Utah 2d 125, 339 P.2d 1019, 1021 (1959) (“[T]he legislature saw fit to include within the definition of the term ‘real estate’ leaseholds and other interests less than leaseholds. This clearly indicates the intention of the legislature that a broad coverage be given to the term ‘real estate’ for the purposes of the Act.”).

Thus, the language of the Utah real estate licensing statutes provides that (1) if a party brings an action in a Utah court, (2) for compensation, (3) for acts resulting in the sale or exchange of real estate, (4) he or she must have the requisite broker license in order to recover the fee. *Anadalex*, 871 at 1045 (citing Utah Code Ann. §§ 61-2-4, 61-2-18 (1993)).

The majority rule in jurisdictions with similar real estate licensing statutes is that if a sale of an ongoing business contains any real estate component, no matter how *de minimus*, an unlicensed broker will be denied any commission. *See Blackthorne Group, Inc. v. Pines of Newmarket, Inc.*, 848 A.2d 725, 731 (N.H. 2004); *Chapin v. Neuhoff Broadcasting-Grand Island*, 684 N.W.2d 588, 593 (Neb. 2004); *GIDC Environmental*

Services, Inc. v. Ransbottom Landfill, 740 N.E.2d 1254, 1258 (Ind. Ct. App. 2000); *Leiff v. Medco Professional Services*, 973 P.2d 1276, 1278 (Co. Ct. App. 1998); *Lockridge v. Hale*, 764 S.W.2d 84 (Ky. Ct. App. 1989); *Ford v. American Medical Intern, Inc.*, 422 N.W.2d 67 (Neb. 1988); *Knight v. Johnson*, 741 S.W.2d 842 (Mo. Ct. App. 1987); *Berchenko v. Fulton Federal Savings & Loan Ass.*, 261 S.E.2d 643 (Ga. 1979); *Thomas v. Jarvis*, 518 P.2d 532 (Kan. 1974); *Brakhage v. Georgetown Associates, Inc.*, 523 P.2d 145, 147 (Colo. Ct. App. 1974); *Bonasera v. Roffe*, 442 P.2d 165 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1968); *Folsom v. Callen*, 131 N.E.2d 902 (Ind. Ct. App. 1953); *Doran v. Imeson Aviation, Inc.*, 419 F.Supp. 586 (D. Wyo. 1976).⁵

In *Blackthorne*, for example, the plaintiff attempted to recover a commission for the sale of an assisted living facility business with assets consisting of, among other things, real property. 848 A.2d at 727. The trial court dismissed the action for failure to

⁵ The minority rule is that an unlicensed plaintiff will not be precluded from potentially recovering a commission if the real estate component is “merely incidental” to the sale of the entire business, *i.e.*, real estate was not a significant asset of the company or a motivating factor for the sale. *GDC Environmental*, 740 N.E.2d at 1258 (adopting majority rule, but noting that a minority of “jurisdictions hold that an unlicensed broker is not precluded from recovering a commission if the real estate component is ‘merely incidental’ to the sale of the entire business”); *Thomas v. Daubs*, 684 N.E.2d 1011, 1015 (Ill. Ct. App. 1997) (adopting rule permitting “unlicensed broker to collect his fee only when the real estate is incidental to the transaction”); *March Group, Inc. v. Bellar*, 908 S.W.2d 956, 960 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1995) (“Where the sale of a business involves only a transfer of stock, the real estate owned by the corporation should be viewed as incidental to the sale unless it is the business’ principal asset.”).

state a claim because the plaintiff did not have a license to sell real estate. *Id.* at 728. On appeal, the plaintiff argued that he was entitled to a finder's fee because the company's real estate was only "incidental" to the sale of the business and because the defendant was a sophisticated business entity that the statute was not meant to protect. *Id.* at 730. In affirming the trial court's dismissal, the New Hampshire Supreme Court held that:

More importantly, the Act expressly defines "real estate" to include "business opportunities which involve any interest in real estate." [Citation omitted.] The use of the word "any" means that the Act applies regardless of whether real estate is "incidental" to the transaction. The Act thus applies to the brokering of business opportunities involving real estate, no matter how *de minimus* the real estate interest.

As the sale of the defendant's business undisputably involved real estate, the Act applied to the sale, even if, as the plaintiff contends, its dominant purpose was not the sale of real estate. Applying the Act to the sale of the business is consistent with the Act's purpose, which is to protect the "public" from unscrupulous real estate brokers. [citation omitted.] The plain language of the Act refutes the plaintiff's assertion that the Act was intended to protect only unsuspecting homebuyers, to the exclusion of sophisticated business entities. [Citation omitted.]

Similarly, in *Doran*, the plaintiff was employed to find a buyer for the defendant's business, with assets consisting of leases, buildings, fuel storage, and equipment. 419 F. Supp. at 587. Applying Wyoming law, the trial court found that because "the assets of [the business] which were to be sold included leases . . . , real estate was involved." *Id.* at 588. As a result, the plaintiff's "activities in producing a purchaser for [the business]

constitute[d] sufficient grounds for holding that he was acting as a real estate broker.” *Id.* at 587.

Finally, in *Leiff*, the plaintiff brought an action to recover a commission pursuant to a contract for the sale of a business. 973 P.2d at 1280. The business’ assets included a lease. *Id.* The trial court granted summary judgment holding that the real estate licensing laws required dismissal of the plaintiff’s claims. *Id.* On appeal, the plaintiff argued that the real estate licensing requirements did not apply because the lease was not transferred as part of the sale of the business. *Id.* Rather, the business’ entire stock was sold. *Id.* In rejecting the plaintiff’s argument, the Colorado Court of Appeals concluded as follows:

We conclude that there is no requirement that real estate or a leasehold be transferred from one legal entity to another to trigger the licensure requirements. Rather, where, as here, the corporation whose entire stock is sold holds a leasehold that becomes the buyer’s leasehold as a result of the sale, whether by transfer from the seller or otherwise, an indirect change in a leasehold interest, and therefore, the licensure requirements apply.

Id. at 1278.

Here, as in the cases cited above, it is undisputed that UPCM’s only asset of any significance is its real estate and that its principal business is the leasing, development, and sale of real property. Therefore, under the application of either the minority or majority rule, the sale of UPCM constituted a “business opportunity involving real estate” which required Sachs to have a real estate license under Utah law. Because it is

undisputed that Sachs did not have a license at any relevant time, his claims were properly dismissed.

Sachs argues that his claims are not barred by the Act because: (1) the Act is a penal statute and must be strictly construed; (2) the merger of UPCM was structured as a stock sale rather than an asset purchase; (3) Sachs' offer to accept a finder's fee in the form of prime developed lots did not require him to be licensed under the Act; (4) he is exempt from the Act; and (5) the purpose of the Act is not offended by enforcing the alleged finder's fee agreement. Each of these arguments is without merit.

A. The Utah Real Estate Brokers Act Is Not Penal and Should Be Broadly Construed.

Sachs' contention that the Act is penal and should be strictly construed is meritless. If the purpose of a statute is not to punish but to accomplish some other legitimate governmental purpose, the statute is considered non-penal. *Viking Pools, Inc. v. Maloney*, 770 P.2d 732, 735 (Cal. 1999).

Here, the purpose of the Act is to protect members of the public who rely on licensed real estate brokers and salesmen to perform tasks that require a high degree of honesty and integrity. *Global Recreation, Inc. v. Cedar Hills Development Co.*, 614 P.2d 155, 158 (Utah 1980); *Anderson v. Johnson*, 108 Utah 417, 160 P.2d 725 (1945). The licensing requirements and the provisions designed to enforce compliance therewith are designed to assure such honesty and integrity. *Id.* Because the purpose of the Act is to

accomplish a legitimate government purpose, rather than to punish, it is non-penal and not to be narrowly construed. Sachs is not being criminally prosecuted or fined for violating the Act. Therefore, his argument that the Act is penal misses the mark.

More importantly, the Utah Supreme Court has held that the Act's definition of "real estate" should be broadly, rather than strictly, construed. *Chade v. Morgan*, 9 Utah 2d 125, 339 P.2d 1019, 1021 (1959) ("[T]he legislature saw fit to include within the definition of the term 'real estate' leaseholds and other interests less than leaseholds. This clearly indicates the intention of the legislature that a broad coverage be given to the term 'real estate' for the purposes of this Act.").

In light of the legislature's intention that the definition of "real estate" be broadly construed, Sachs was required to have a license. The Act specifically precludes any person, without a valid real estate license, from recovering any compensation for facilitating real estate transactions or finding potential purchasers of real estate. Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-18. "'Real estate'" includes leaseholds and business opportunities involving real property." *Id.* § 61-2-2(14).

Sachs' reliance on *Anderson v. Johnson*, 18 Utah 417, 160 P.2d 725 (1945), is misplaced. As noted above, the Utah Supreme Court in *Chade v. Morgan*, held that the term "real estate" should be given broad rather than narrow construction. Moreover, at the time *Anderson* was decided, the Act's definition of "real estate" did not include "business opportunities involving real property." *Anderson*, 160 P.2d at 727. In fact, the Act's definition of "real estate" did not include a "business opportunity" until 1963, nearly twenty years after *Anderson* was decided. See, ApInt. Add. 7, at 13.

Although “business opportunities” is not specifically defined in the Act, its plain meaning clearly encompasses the sale of UPCM, whose only asset of any significance is real property. *See State v. Richardson*, 2006 UT App. 238, ¶ 12, 139 P.3d 278, 280 (When interpreting the plain language of a particular statute, “courts presume that the legislature used each word advisedly and give effect to each term according to its ordinary and accepted meaning.”); *Alternative Options and Services for Children v. Chapman*, 2004 UT App. 488, ¶ 35, 106 P.3d 744, 752 (When interpreting statutory language, the court is to look at the ordinary meaning of the word, and if the ordinary meaning results in an application that is neither unreasonably confused, inoperable, nor in blatant contradiction to the express purpose of the statute, it is not the duty of the court to assess the wisdom of the statutory scheme.); *All Points Traders, Inc. v. Barrington Assocs.*, 259 Cal. Rptr. 780, 784 (Cal. Ct. App. 1989) (In accordance with principle of statutory interpretation that courts must give effect to the words of a statute according to their usual and ordinary meaning, “business opportunity” encompasses any transfer of ownership of an entire ongoing business in corporate form whether by transfer of all the stock or all the assets.)⁷ Here, the plain meaning of business opportunity includes the

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